UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-25-2017

State v. Krambule Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44433

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Marjorie Balls Krambule appeals from the district court's order revoking her withheld judgment for accessory to felony possession of a controlled substance and continuing her on probation. She contends the August 2016 order revoking her withheld judgment must be vacated because the January 2015 withheld judgment it purportedly revokes was entered while she was proceeding *pro se* and had not waived her right to counsel, and was thus void. Alternatively, she contends there is a structural defect in this case, requiring automatic reversal of her conviction, because she was allowed to change her plea from "not guilty" to "guilty" and was sentenced without being represented by counsel, and without waiving her right to counsel.

This Court stated in *State v. LePage*, 102 Idaho 387 (1981), that "[w]here a violation of [the right to counsel] is alleged on appeal and where . . . there appears to be some merit to the allegation, the need for efficiency in the judicial process must give way to our primary duty to protect and preserve the basic rights accorded each citizen by the Constitution." *Id.* at 391. Such is the case here. This Court should consider the merits of the issues Ms. Krambule raises, even though they are being raised for the first time in this appeal, and should vacate the order revoking Ms. Krambule's withheld judgment, vacate her conviction, and remand this case to the district court with instructions to allow her to withdraw her guilty plea and proceed with the assistance of counsel.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

Ms. Krambule called the police to report she was being physically abused by her husband, and was then subjected to a welfare check. (R., p.16.) Ms. Krambule gave the police officers who arrived at her home permission to search her home, and directed the officers to the bedroom she shared with her husband, where the officers discovered two methamphetamine pipes. (R., p.17.) She said the pipes belonged to her husband, but admitted using methamphetamine with him one week earlier. (R., p.17.) Ms. Krambule was charged by Information with felony possession of a controlled substance. (R., pp.48-49.)

Ms. Krambule was initially represented by a public defender. (R., p.43.) While represented by counsel, Ms. Krambule entered into an agreement with the State pursuant to which she agreed to plead guilty to an amended charge of accessory to possession of a controlled substance pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), and, in exchange, the State agreed to recommend a withheld judgment and probation. (R., pp.83-91.) The Guilty Plea Questionnaire reflects that Ms. Krambule had been diagnosed with anxiety, depression and obsessive compulsive disorder, and was taking multiple psychotropic medications. (R., pp.83-88.) The district court accepted Ms. Krambule's guilty plea and set the case for sentencing. (R., p.90.)

Prior to sentencing, Ms. Krambule filed a motion to withdraw her guilty plea. (R., pp.92-95.) The district court held a hearing on the motion.¹ (R., pp.96-99; Mot. to

¹ The Clerk's Record does not contain a copy of the transcript of the hearing on Ms. Krambule's motion to withdraw her guilty plea. Appellate counsel for Ms. Krambule filed a Motion to Augment the Record to include a copy of this transcript, in addition to two other transcripts, and that motion was denied by this Court on April 18, 2017. Accordingly, Ms. Krambule is filing, simultaneously with this brief, a Motion to Augment

Aug., Ex. A.) As an initial matter, the district court noted "there was a lot of emotion and a lot of reluctance that was demonstrated on the part of Ms. Krambule" at the time she entered her guilty plea, and the change of plea "took an inordinate amount of time due to the emotional state of Ms. Krambule and her reluctance to enter that plea."² (Mot. to Aug., Ex. A at 3:15-40.) Counsel for Ms. Krambule explained to the district court that Ms. Krambule felt she had been coerced into pleading guilty. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. A at 8:51-9:11). Ms. Krambule said she did not understand anything when she entered her guilty plea and wanted time to obtain counsel who could help her "understand all of this because everyone wants me to take a plea to something I didn't do and I want a chance to prove that." (Mot. to Aug., Ex. A. at 11:20-12:01.) She told the district court, "I'm doing what I'm told and I'm not understanding any of it." (Mot. to Aug., Ex. A at 14:29-33.)

The district court said it believed Ms. Krambule's guilty plea was knowing and voluntary, "but . . . by observing body language, by observing Ms. Krambule, I think her subjective belief was that she had no other alternative but to enter this guilty plea." (Mot. to Aug., Ex. A at 32:30-33:10.) The district court granted Ms. Krambule's motion, finding she met her burden of showing a just reason to withdraw her guilty plea. (R., pp.96-98; Mot. to Aug., Ex. A at 33:40-35:05.) Counsel for Ms. Krambule then made an oral motion to withdraw, which the district court granted due to a "divide in their relationship." (R., p.97, Mot. to Aug., Ex. A at 35:32-54, 48:25-30, 45:15-46:15.) The

the Record to include the audio recordings of the three critical hearings that support her arguments in this appeal. (Mot. to Aug., Exs. A-C.)

² The district court described it as "probably the most difficult colloquy I've had with respect to a change of plea since I've been on the bench." (Mot. to Aug., Ex. A at 28:20-32.)

district court told Ms. Krambule she needed "to take whatever steps necessary to retain private counsel in this matter."³ (Mot. to Aug., Ex. A at 45:15-46:15.)

Ms. Krambule retained private counsel, who filed a notice of appearance on her behalf on November 10, 2014. (R., pp.101-02.) On January 20, 2015, Ms. Krambule's counsel filed a motion to withdraw, stating Ms. Krambule wished to terminate the representation and certifying that withdrawal was necessary under Rule 1.16(a)(1) of the Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct.⁴ (R., pp.137-39.) The district court held a hearing on counsel's motion on the morning of January 22, 2015. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. B.) Counsel explained he had "a legitimate concern," not touching upon the issues in this case, which required him to move to withdraw. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. B at 2:00-4:26.) The district court asked Ms. Krambule what she intended to do if her attorney was allowed to withdraw. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. B at 7:35-40.) Ms. Krambule said, through tears, "I don't know." (Mot. to Aug., Ex. B at 7:41-49.) After conferring with Ms. Krambule, counsel told the district court, "I think my client would like to get alternative legal counsel, but how she'll go about that, I don't know." (Mot. to Aug., Ex. B at 11:00-15.) The prosecutor told the district court he would be happy to speak with Ms. Krambule directly if the court granted her counsel's motion to withdraw. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. B at 13:25-45.) The district court granted counsel's motion to withdraw. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. B at 16:10-

³ It is not clear from the Record why the district court did not appoint a different public defender for Ms. Krambule at this time. There is no indication that Ms. Krambule's financial status improved over the course of these proceedings.

⁴ Rule 1.16(a)(1) of the Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct states that "a lawyer . . . shall withdraw from the representation of a client if . . . the representation will result in violation of the rules of professional conduct or other law."

17:00.) The following exchange then took place between the district court and Ms. Krambule:

- Q. Ms. Krambule, what that then means to you is that I have granted their motion, they will be allowed to withdraw. At this point in time, you're not represented in these matters, and so what I would advise you is that you're free if you would like to today to talk to [the prosecutor] . . . And if you want to take the opportunity to [explore a resolution of this case] here today, he can now talk to you. Yes?
- A. Could I get in more trouble for doing that?
- Q. Well, I don't know. I mean if you --
- A. If we could work out a deal, I would still be able to do what we spoke of and hire another lawyer, right?
- Q. Oh, absolutely, yes. What I would caution you about today is that you don't talk about anything other than this case, certainly, and what the State may be willing to do related to this case. If you talk about things unrelated to this case, yeah, perhaps you could find yourself in trouble. I don't know. Again, I don't like to give advice from the bench. If you talk about this case, and what [the prosecutor] may or may not be willing to do, I can't imagine you getting in trouble for that.
- A. Okay.

(Mot. to Aug., Ex. B at 17:01-18:36.) The district court then told Ms. Krambule, "If you want to have a meeting with [the prosecutor] here today before you leave, I'm more than comfortable in allowing that to occur." (Mot. to Aug., Ex. B at 19:44-56.) Ms. Krambule was not provided with any information about her right to counsel; nor was she provided with any information about the risks of proceeding *pro se*.

The district court held a hearing in the afternoon of January 22, 2015, where Ms. Krambule appeared *pro se*. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. C.) The prosecutor told the district court he had met with Ms. Krambule without an attorney, and reached an agreement "similar to what was reached previously. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. C at 1:07-30.) According to

the prosecutor, Ms. Krambule agreed to plead guilty to an amended charge of accessory to possession of a controlled substance, under the same conditions she had agreed to previously, and had further agreed to proceed directly to sentencing, without preparation of a presentence investigation report.⁵ (Mot. to Aug., Ex. C at 1:41-3:32.) Ms. Krambule confirmed the agreement, but stated she wanted her plea to be an Alford plea. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. C at 4:25-5:15.) The district court accepted Ms. Krambule's guilty plea "based upon the colloguy we had . . . a month or two ago." (Mot. to Aug., Ex. C at 5:14-30, 7:00-05.) The district court then proceeded to sentencing, stating, "I find that it would be appropriate based upon Ms. Krambule's condition, her stability, her mental health, that we forego the formal presentence investigation process and proceed to sentencing at this time in this matter." (Mot. to Aug., Ex. C at 9:41-10:05.) The district court imposed a withheld judgment and placed Ms. Krambule on probation for three years. (R., pp.143-46; Mot. to Aug., Ex. C at 13:02-45.) The minute entry and order withholding judgment was entered on January 22, 2015. (R., pp.143-49.) Ms. Krambule, still unrepresented, did not appeal from the order withholding judgment.

On March 22, 2016, the State filed a report of probation violation, alleging Ms. Krambule violated probation by testing positive for methamphetamine on January 28, and February 25, 2016. (R., pp.155-58.) The district court held a hearing on March 24, 2016, where Ms. Krambule appeared without counsel. (R., p.159.) The district court advised Ms. Krambule of her right to counsel and she stated she wished to be represented by counsel. (R., p.159.) The district court appointed a public defender

⁵ Ms. Krambule also presumably waived the provision in Idaho Criminal Rule 33(a)(1) providing that sentencing is not to occur until at least two days after a plea or verdict of guilty unless waived by the defendant.

to represent Ms. Krambule. (R., p.159.) Ms. Krambule denied violating probation and the district court set the matter for an evidentiary hearing. (R., p.160.)

Before an evidentiary hearing was held, Ms. Krambule filed, through counsel, a motion to withdraw her guilty plea and a motion for the audio recordings of the hearings held on January 22, 2015.⁶ (R., pp.169-74.) The district court held an evidentiary hearing on July 27, 2016, and found Ms. Krambule violated probation. (Tr., p.126, L.23 – p.127, L.4; R., pp.190-94.) Ms. Krambule told the district court she had not used methamphetamine or any illegal drugs since February 21, 2014, and explained to the court that her therapist wanted her to see a psychiatrist because "there is definitely something wrong in my head and I definitely need to see somebody that can fix it." (Tr., p.136, Ls.2-8, p.137, Ls.6-8.) The district court revoked Ms. Krambule's withheld judgment, sentenced her to a unified term of four years, with two years fixed, and then suspended her sentence and placed her on probation until January 22, 2019. (R., pp.190-94; Tr., p.139, Ls.14-23.) The order revoking withheld judgment and continuing probation was entered on August 1, 2016. (R., pp.190-94.) Ms. Krambule filed a timely notice of appeal, through counsel, on August 10, 2016. (R., pp.196-99.)

⁶ The district court did not rule on these motions. The district court stated at a hearing on June 30, 2016, "I'm just going to treat that motion to withdraw as having been filed, but not notice it up for a hearing. It will be incumbent upon [defense counsel], if he wants to notice that matter up for a hearing, to do so for a later time." (Tr., p.21, Ls.4-8.) Defense counsel did not file a notice of hearing for either the motion to withdraw Ms. Krambule's guilty plea or the motion for audio recordings of the January 22, 2015 hearings.

ISSUES

- 1. Should this Court vacate the August 2016 order revoking Ms. Krambule's withheld judgment because the January 2015 judgment it purportedly revokes was entered while Ms. Krambule was proceeding *pro se* and had not waived her right to counsel, and was thus void?
- 2. Alternatively, should this Court vacate Ms. Krambule's conviction for accessory to felony possession of a controlled substance because she was allowed to change her plea from "not guilty" to "guilty" and was sentenced without being represented by counsel, and without waiving her right to counsel, which is a structural defect requiring automatic reversal?

ARGUMENT

Ι.

<u>This Court Should Vacate The August 2016 Order Revoking Ms. Krambule's Withheld</u> <u>Judgment Because The January 2015 Judgment It Purportedly Revokes Was Entered</u> <u>While Ms. Krambule Was Proceeding *Pro Se* And Had Not Waived Her Right To <u>Counsel, And Was Thus Void</u></u>

"The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of our Constitution guarantee that a person brought to trial in any state or federal court must be afforded the right to the assistance of counsel before he can be validly convicted and punished by imprisonment." Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 (1975). Thus, an accused may only represent himself if he "knowingly and intelligently waives the right to counsel. See id. at 835; see also State v. Lovelace, 140 Idaho 53, 64 (2004) ("To be valid, a waiver of the right to counsel must have been effected knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently."). "Although a defendant need not himself have the skill and experience of a lawyer in order competently and intelligently to choose self-representation, he should be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will establish that he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835 (quotation marks and citation omitted); see also open." State v. Anderson, 144 Idaho 743, 746 (2007) (stating "[t]he district court must be satisfied the defendant understood the inherent risks involved in waiving the right to counsel") (quotation marks and citation omitted); Idaho Code § 19-857 (providing that a person may waive his right to counsel if the court finds he has "acted with full awareness of his rights and of the consequences of a waiver").

In this case, it is strikingly clear from the record that Ms. Krambule did not have a lawyer, and had not waived her right to a lawyer, when the district court accepted her

guilty plea, proceeded to sentencing, and entered a withheld judgment. (See Mot. to Aug., Exs. B, C.) Despite her attorney's statement that Ms. Krambule "would like to get alternative legal counsel," she was not advised of how she might obtain alternate counsel after her attorney was allowed to withdraw, and was arguably encouraged by the district court to meet with the prosecutor without the assistance of an attorney. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. B at 11:00-15.) After Ms. Krambule and the prosecutor arrived at a plea agreement that was almost exactly the same as the agreement Ms. Krambule had earlier disavowed, the district court accepted Ms. Krambule's guilty plea without engaging in any colloquy, presumably because the earlier colloquy had taken "an inordinate amount of time" due to Ms. Krambule's "emotional state" and her reluctance to enter a guilty plea. (Mot. to Aug., Ex. A at 3:15-40.) The district court then proceeded directly to sentencing, without any type of presentence investigation, and without ever advising Ms. Krambule of her right to an attorney and the consequences of waiving that right.

The only question is whether Ms. Krambule has a remedy for this obvious constitutional violation when she failed to file a timely notice of appeal from the original judgment (when she was, of course, unrepresented by counsel). In *State v. Farfan-Galvan*, 161 Idaho 610, 389 P.3d 155 (2016), this Court deemed significant the holding in *Burgett v. Texas*, 389 U.S. 109, 114 (1967), "that a judgment is void unless the defendant had a lawyer or waived the right." 161 Idaho at ___, 389 P.3d at 160. In *Burgett*, the United States Supreme Court held the petitioner's Tennessee conviction was void because the certified records of the conviction on their face raised a presumption that the petitioner was denied his right to counsel. 389 U.S. at 114. The

Court reasoned that "[t]o permit a conviction obtained in violation of *Gideon v. Wainwright* [372 U.S. 335 (1963)] to be used against a person either to support guilt or enhance punishment for another offense . . . is to erode the principle of that case." *Id.* at 115. The present case poses just as a much of a risk to the principle of *Gideon v. Wainwright* as did *Burgett* because Ms. Krambule continues to be punished for a felony conviction obtained in clear violation of her Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

Following *Burgett* and *Farfan-Galvan*, this Court should conclude that the withheld judgment entered in this case in January 2015 was void because Ms. Krambule did not have a lawyer and had not waived her right to a lawyer when the judgment was entered. Where a judgment is void, it is "[o]f no legal effect." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (10th ed. 2014). Thus, when the district court attempted to revoke Ms. Krambule's withheld judgment in August 2016, there was nothing to revoke. The district court could not revoke a withheld judgment that was void, and this Court can and should vacate the district court's August 2016 order in this appeal. *See Meyers v. Hansen*, 148 Idaho 283, 291 (2009) (agreeing with the defendant that void judgments can be attacked at any time).

II.

Alternatively, This Court Should Vacate Ms. Krambule's Conviction For Accessory To Felony Possession Of A Controlled Substance Because She Was Allowed To Change Her Plea From "Not Guilty" To "Guilty" And Was Sentenced Without Being Represented By Counsel, And Without Waiving Her Right To Counsel, Which Is A Structural Defect Requiring Automatic Reversal

In State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209 (2010), this Court explained that "some constitutional rights are so basic to a fair trial that the violation of those rights requires an automatic reversal and is not subject to harmless error analysis." *Id.* at 222

(discussing *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 307-08 (1991)). The Court explained that certain errors, including the complete denial of counsel, constitute structural defects which are so inherently unfair that they defy harmless error review. *See id.* (citing *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335 (1963)); *see also Bement v. State*, 91 Idaho 388, 395 (1966) (noting the right to counsel has been described as "the most pervasive right of an accused" which has been accorded a "singular significance") (quotation marks omitted). In this case, it is clear from the record that Ms. Krambule was denied her Sixth Amendment right to counsel when she changed her plea from "not guilty" to "guilty" and was sentenced while proceeding *pro se* and without having waived her right to counsel. This was a structural defect in the proceedings which requires reversal of her conviction.

Alternatively, this Court can construe the error as fundamental error, which requires reversal of Ms. Krambule's conviction even though the issue was not raised in the district court. In *State v. Jackson*, 140 Idaho 636 (Ct. App. 2004), the Court of Appeals reversed the defendant's conviction for possession of methamphetamine and possession of paraphernalia, concluding he was denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel through the trial court's acceptance of an invalid waiver. *Id.* at 641. The Court considered the issue even though it was not raised in the district court, explaining the deprivation of the right to counsel is a constitutional error that "cast[s] such doubt upon the fairness of the trial process that [it is] deemed prejudicial per se." *Id.* at 641. Similarly, in *State v. Hunnel*, 125 Idaho 623 (1994), this Court rejected the State's argument that the Court should decline to review the voluntariness of the defendant's waiver of the right to counsel because the issue was not raised in the trial court. *Id.* at

625. The Court held the claimed error "qualifies as fundamental error," which it defined as "error which so profoundly distorts the trial that it produces manifest injustice and deprives the accused of his fundamental right to due process." *Id.* (quotation marks and citation omitted); *see also Lovelace*, 140 Idaho at 64 (rejecting the State's argument that the Court should decline to review the issue of the voluntaries of the defendant's waiver of the right to counsel, concluding it qualifies as fundamental error).

Though it appears, post-*Perry*, that the issue presented in this case is one of structural error rather than fundamental error, the relief Ms. Krambule is entitled to is the same under either formulation. Because it is clear from the record that Ms. Krambule was denied her Sixth Amendment right to counsel in the proceedings leading up to the entry of the withheld judgment in January 2015, and is continuing to suffer the consequences of her felony conviction, she is entitled to relief even though this issue is being raised for the first time in this appeal.

CONCLUSION

Ms. Krambule respectfully requests that this Court vacate the district court's order revoking her withheld judgment, vacate her conviction, and remand this case to the district court with instructions to allow Ms. Krambule to withdraw her guilty plea, and proceed with the assistance of counsel.