Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-7-2017

State v. Krambule Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44433

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

ARGUMENT

Ι.

This Court Lacks Jurisdiction Over The Issues Krambule Raises On Appeal
Because Her Notice Of Appeal Is Timely Only From The District Court's Order
Revoking Withheld Judgment And Continuing Probation

A. Introduction

Krambule contends that the district court violated her constitutional rights by allowing her to plead guilty and be sentenced in a *pro* se capacity without first obtaining a valid waiver of her right to counsel. (See generally Appellant's brief.) However, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider the merits of this issue because Krambule's notice of appeal was timely only from the district court's order revoking Krambule's withheld judgment. Therefore, this appeal must be dismissed.

B. Standard Of Review

"'A question of jurisdiction is fundamental; it cannot be ignored when brought to [the appellate courts'] attention and should be addressed prior to considering the merits of an appeal." State v. Kavajecz, 139 Idaho 482, 483, 80 P.3d 1083, 1084 (2003) (quoting H & V Engineering, Inc. v. Idaho State Bd. of Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors, 113 Idaho 646, 648, 747 P.2d 55, 57 (1987)). Whether a court has jurisdiction is a question of law, given free review. Kavajecz, 139 Idaho at 483, 80 P.3d at 1084.

C. <u>This Court Lacks Jurisdiction To Review The Issues Raised On Appeal</u>

An appeal from the district court "may be made only by physically filing a notice of appeal ... within 42 days" of an appealable order. I.A.R. 14(a). A timely

filed notice of appeal is a prerequisite to appellate jurisdiction. I.A.R. 21; <u>State v. Payan</u>, 128 Idaho 866, 920 P.2d 82 (Ct. App. 1996); <u>State v. Fuller</u>, 104 Idaho 891, 665 P.2d 190 (Ct. App. 1983). The failure to file a notice of appeal within the time limits prescribed by the appellate rules requires "automatic dismissal" of the appeal. I.A.R. 21; <u>see also State v. Tucker</u>, 103 Idaho 885, 888, 655 P.2d 92, 95 (1982).

Where a notice of appeal is timely only from an order revoking probation, the issues on appeal are confined to that order. State v. Dryden, 105 Idaho 848, 852, 673 P.2d 809, 813 (Ct. App. 1983); see also State v. Russell, 122 Idaho 488, 489 n.1, 835 P.2d 1299, 1300 n.1 (1992) (no appellate jurisdiction to consider original final judgment of conviction where appeal was only timely to challenge probation revocation); State v. Jensen, 138 Idaho 941, 943-944, 71 P.3d 1088, 1090-1091 (Ct. App. 2003) (no appellate jurisdiction to consider defendant's claim of double jeopardy where defendant's notice of appeal was only timely as to the order revoking his probation); Tucker, 103 Idaho at 888, 655 P.2d at 95 (no appellate jurisdiction to entertain the question of whether the district court could lawfully enhance defendant's sentence where the notice of appeal was filed after the order revoking probation was entered and more than one year from the date of the original sentence).

In this case, Krambule entered her *pro* se guilty plea on January 22, 2015. (R., pp.143-146.) The district court entered its order withholding judgment that same date. (Id.) While an order withholding judgment is appealable as a matter of right, I.A.R. 11(C)(2), Krambule did not file a notice of appeal within 42 days of

the entry of that order. More than a year later, on August 1, 2016, the district court entered its order revoking Krambule's withheld judgment after Krambule violated her probation. (R., pp.190-194.) On August 10, 2016, Krambule filed a notice of appeal timely from the order revoking withheld judgment, commencing this appellate proceeding. (R., pp.196-199.) This Court therefore has appellate jurisdiction only over challenges to that order. While Krambule attempts to frame her primary issue on appeal as a challenge to the order revoking her withheld judgment, she alleges only a constitutional violation with respect to her January 2015 guilty plea. (Appellant's brief, pp.9-13.) Because this Court does not have appellate jurisdiction to consider challenges to Krambule's withheld judgment, this appeal must be dismissed.

Krambule cites various cases which, she asserts, support her proposition that this Court may entertain the merits of the issues she raises on appeal. (Id.) However, none of the cases cited by Krambule concern the issue of appellate jurisdiction.

In <u>State v. Farfan-Galvan</u>, 161 Idaho 610, 389 P.3d 155 (2016), and <u>Burgett v. Texas</u>, 389 U.S. 109 (1967), defendant-appellants raised *collateral* challenges to judgments of convictions which had become final, after those prior convictions were utilized by the state to enhance the punishment for a new criminal charge, or to enhance the new charge's severity. In neither case did the defendant-appellant attempt to *directly* challenge a conviction after the judgment had become final and after the appellate court had lost jurisdiction to entertain such challenges. <u>Meyers v. Hansen</u>, 148 Idaho 283, 221 P.3d 81 (2007), and

other cases recognizing that "void judgments can be attacked at any time," do not stand for the separate proposition that an individual may challenge an allegedly "void" order in *any court*, regardless of whether the court has jurisdiction to entertain the issue. Instead, an individual aggrieved by a judgment that she asserts is "void" may raise that challenge at any time during a proceeding in which the district court actually has jurisdiction over such a challenge. Finally, <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, 219-227, 245 P.3d 961, 971-979 (2010), <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 140 Idaho 636, 639-641, 97 P.3d 1025, 1028-1030 (Ct. App. 2004), and <u>State v. Hunnel</u>, 125 Idaho 623, 625-626, 873 P.2d 877, 879-880 (1994), hold that certain alleged fundamental errors may be raised for the first time on appeal *in valid appellate challenges to judgments of conviction* — not, as Krambule appears to assert, that certain alleged fundamental errors can expand the jurisdiction of an appellate court even after the judgment has become final and the time for appeal has expired.

In summary, nothing in the cases cited by Krambule support her proposition that an Idaho appellate court re-gains jurisdiction to consider the merits of a direct challenge to a judgment (or withheld judgment) which has become final, even after the district court enters an order revoking probation or, as in this case, enters an order revoking a withheld judgment. In other words, a defendant does not gain a new opportunity to raise challenges to her judgment of conviction or withheld judgment simply by violating her probation.

This Court lacks appellate jurisdiction to address the merits of Krambule's claims raised on appeal. This appeal must be dismissed.

If This Court Reaches The Merits Of Her Claims, Krambule Has Failed To Show
That The District Court Violated Her Constitutional Rights By Permitting Her To
Enter A Pro Se Guilty Plea

A. Introduction

In the event that this Court reaches the merits of Krambule's contention that her withheld judgment is void because she pled guilty without validly waiving her right to counsel (See generally Appellant's brief), Krambule has still failed to show she is entitled to relief. A review of the totality of the circumstances in this case reveals that Krambule knowingly and voluntarily waived her right to counsel and therefore has failed to demonstrate fundamental error.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

When reviewing a lower court's determination regarding the waiver of a constitutional right, the appellate court accepts the trial court's findings of fact if supported by substantial evidence; however, the appellate court freely reviews the court's application of constitutional requirements to the facts as found. State v. Hoffman, 116 Idaho 689, 691, 778 P.2d 811, 813 (Ct. App. 1989). The appellate court examines the "totality of the circumstances in determining the validity of a defendant's waiver of counsel." State v. Anderson, 144 Idaho 743, 746, 170 P.3d 886, 889 (2007).

The appellate courts of this state will only review unpreserved assertions of error under the fundamental error doctrine. <u>Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at 226, 245 P.3d at 978.

C. Krambule Validly Waived Her Right To Counsel

Because Krambule failed to challenge her guilty plea below, she must demonstrate fundamental error on appeal, even assuming that this Court has jurisdiction to entertain this issue. Perry, 150 Idaho at 226, 245 P.3d at 978. To do so, Krambule must demonstrate: (1) a constitutional violation; (2) that the violation is clear and obvious without the need for additional information not contained in the appellate record; and (3) that prejudice resulted. Id. Krambule cannot make such a showing.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right of self-representation which derives from the Sixth Amendment. <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 818 (1975). To validly waive the right to counsel the defendant must make a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver. <u>State v. Dalrymple</u>, 144 Idaho 628, 633-634, 167 P.3d 765, 770-771 (2007) (citing <u>State v. Lovelace</u>, 140 Idaho 53, 64, 90 P.3d 278, 289 (2003)). The State bears the burden to prove that the defendant voluntarily waived his Sixth Amendment rights. <u>Id.</u>

While some jurisdictions have held that a specific warning from the trial court concerning the dangers of self-representation is a prerequisite for a constitutionally valid waiver of the right to counsel, others have held that <u>Faretta</u> requires only that the defendants be aware of the disadvantages of proceeding *pro se*, and that such awareness sometimes can be discerned even in the absence of admonitions from the court. <u>See Jackson</u>, 140 Idaho at 639-640, 97 P.3d at 1028-1029 (summarizing relevant cases). The United States Supreme Court has held that less rigorous warnings regarding self-representation are

required before trial than at trial, "because, at that stage, 'the full dangers and disadvantages of self-representation...are less substantial and more obvious to an accused than they are at trial." <u>lowa v. Tovar</u>, 541 U.S. 77, 90 (2004) (quoting <u>Patterson v. Illinois</u>, 487 U.S. 285, 289 (1988)).

When determining whether a waiver of the right to counsel was valid, Idaho courts examine the totality of the circumstances. Anderson, 144 Idaho at 746, 170 P.3d at 889; see also Lovelace, 140 Idaho at 64, 90 P.3d at 289; State v. King, 131 Idaho 374, 376, 957 P.2d 352, 354 (Ct. App. 1998). An Idaho appellate court's determination of whether a waiver was valid is not limited to a review of the hearing at which the waiver was made: "[t]he particular moment of the waiver is not the only consideration; rather, the record as a whole is considered." Anderson, 144 Idaho at 746-747, 170 P.3d at 889-890; see also Dalrymple, 144 Idaho at 634, 167 P.3d at 771 ("While contemporaneous Faretta warnings are perhaps the most prudent means to ensure the defendant's grasp of the disadvantages of self-representation, we look to the record as a whole to determine if [appellant] knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his constitutional right." (citation omitted)).

The state submits that in the unique circumstances of this case, Krambule validly waived her right to counsel prior to entering a *pro* se guilty plea despite the absence of specific <u>Faretta</u> warnings or a thorough plea colloquy accompanying her second guilty plea. In the course of the underlying criminal proceeding, Krambule was represented by both appointed and retained counsel. While represented by appointed counsel, Krambule entered a guilty plea and was

informed of her relevant rights. (R., pp.83-91.) Krambule later withdrew that plea and retained private counsel. (R., pp.96-99, 101-102.)

At the subsequent hearing on retained counsel's motion to withdraw, Krambule told the court that she was not requesting that new counsel be appointed, and that she supported her retained counsel's motion to withdraw. (Aug., Ex. B, 7:02 – 9:38.) Retained counsel, who was still representing Krambule at that point in the hearing, consulted with Krambule and informed the court that Krambule was "intending on discussing things with [the prosecutor] on a plea agreement." (Aug., Ex. B, 10:06 – 11:59.) Krambule's retained counsel explained that whether Krambule sought alternative private legal counsel would depend on whether such an agreement could be reached. (Id.) After granting counsel's motion to withdraw, the court informed Krambule that she was "free," and that "if [she] would like to today," she could "talk to [the prosecutor]." (Aug., Ex. B, 17:02 – 17:41.) Krambule did so, an agreement was reached, and the guilty plea was entered. (R., pp.143-146; Aug., Ex. C, 0:25 – 3:32.)

The district court did not violate Krambule's constitutional rights by permitting her to enter a *pro* se guilty plea in these circumstances. The court was very familiar with Krambule, having presided over her previous change of plea and sentencing hearing, and at least nine other hearings at which Krambule appeared. (R., pp.2-9.) Further, it was only after consulting with privately retained counsel that Krambule elected to talk to the prosecutor in a *pro* se capacity and enter into a plea agreement. This plea agreement was substantially similar to the agreement Krambule previously entered into while represented by

appointed counsel. It is clear from the record that Krambule knew of her right to

appointed counsel, and her right to procure private counsel, and that she

knowingly chose to forgo both prior to entering her guilty plea.

Krambule knowingly and intelligently waived her right to counsel prior to

pleading guilty. She has therefore failed to demonstrate that the district court

committed fundamental error.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to dismiss Krambule's appeal or,

alternatively, affirm the judgment of conviction and the district court's order

revoking Krambule's withheld judgment.